FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/13/2022 12:19 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101012-5 (COA No. 55753-3-II) (COA NO. 385477)

(CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR CAUSE No. 152032261)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LINDA AMES, AN INDIVIDUAL,

APPELLANT

v.

HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR WELLS FARGO ASSET SECURITIES CORPORATION, MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 2006-AR16,

RESPONDENT.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF CLARK, AND APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II / DIVISION III)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LINDA AMES, APPELLANT 11920 NW 35TH AVENUE VANCOUVER WA 98685

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER and RESPONDENT

Petitioner is Linda Ames, an individual. Petitioner, LINDA AMES, resides at 11920 NW 35TH AVE, VANCOUVER WA 98685 and the Property which was the subject of the action of Clark County, Washington is 10810 NW 13th Place, now worth in excess of one million dollars.

Respondent is HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR WELLS FARGO ASSET SECURITIES CORPORATION, MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 2006-AR16. According to the SEC Edgar filings, it is incorporated in the State of Delaware, is primarily in the business of asset-backed securities, and THE REGISTRATION WAS TERMINATED ON JANUARY 16TH, 2007 as evidenced by the Registration Termination, Form 15-15D. See https://sec.report/CIK/0001373699

COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

The Court of Appeals Division 2 has transferred the cases listed in the attached orders to Division 3, including the above-entitled action.

Linda Ames seeks review of the Court of Appeals decisions dated May 19th, 2022 and April 5th, 2022.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Plaintiff, by summary judgment, was deprived of her opportunity to prove that the mortgage was paid in full, the foreclosure against her wrongful, and

amend to include Wells Fargo as servicer once the entire scheme, plan, and artifice to defraud has now been revealed. CR 60(b)(3)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff / Appellant Ames lost her home, as did hundreds of thousands of other borrowers. Her loss was particularly hurtful because she was current in her payments, and told to stop making her payments by Wells as servicer for a trust which does not exist, and did not exist since 2007.

On March 26, 2012, AFTER WELLS FARGO had already recorded the assignment of Deed of Trust, as set forth above, they then recorded an appointment of Trustee to Quality Loan Service Corp. of Washington, Document 4841188 who foreclosed on Ames after WELLS FARGO no longer had any right appoint a Trustee.

So the registration for the trust which claims to have held the mortgage was cancelled on January of 2007, yet the "Trust" claims to have acquired the mortgage in 2011, in direct violation of New York and Delaware Law, prohibiting the acquisition of new assets after a trust is closed.

Ames had a PMI provision in her mortgage and believes her mortgage was satisfied by that mortgage, but up until now, has been unsuccessful in proving it and is seeking leave of this court to let her go back to State Court, and prove that the mortgage was already satisfied when she was foreclosed and lost her home.

Ambac Assurance Company, has come forward, seeking repayment of the sums they paid out in satisfying the mortgage by suing the entities who bundled and sold the sub-par mortgages, but said they were valuable. Mid July of 2022, they are having a trial for 1.5 BILLION dollars in mortgages they paid but servicers never satisfied the mortgages after paying the trusts the principal and interest on Ames and other mortgages. The borrowers mortgages have never been satisfied even though the money was paid in full to the "Lender".

Appellant has consistently alleged throughout this case that her mortgage was paid in full before the wrongful foreclosure. Since that time, Appellant has learned the precise fraudulent scheme under which that occurred. In *Ambac Assur. Corp. v Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, 2022 NY Slip Op 00805 [202 AD3d 462] **February 8, 2022**, Ames learned that 350 million in mortgages were satisfied, and the 1.5 billion dollar action is coming up for trial soon.

Here's how Appellant was cheated and Wells Fargo, as the servicer is double recovering:

That there is a scheme and artifice to defraud. First, the scheme involves purchasing a mortgage, but not the note, which transpired here. Second, the securitization of that mortgage into a closed trust- again, it transpired here. Third, the guaranteeing of that mortgage payment through PMI or issuance of RMBS bonds from Ambac Assurance or other third party insurance companies that guarantee the payment of

these mortgages to the investors in the trust.- again, what happened here. Fourth, the default of the borrower- again, it happened at the cause of the defendant's servicer. (Or in this case, Wells instructed the Appellant to stop making payments with the false promise of a loan modification. Instead, Plaintiff / Appellant now knows that her allegations that the mortgage was already satisfied are true, and proven. In this case, Wells as servicer was taking regular timely payments of the loan modification given to Ames. That was for FIFTEEN months, so the loan modification was permanent. Wells claimed that this was just a "TRIAL" and that to activate the loan modification again, was that Ames HAD TO MISS HER PAYMENT. Wells, in order to recover from the assurance company, needed Ames to default. Therefore, they falsely promised her a loan modification if she stopped paying. They made sure that the property had plenty of equity, and was beautifully re-done by Ames, as evidenced by the inspection fees they charged her. They knew they had a hot prospect in taking this home.) Fifth, the claim by the trust against the insurance, as they did here. Sixth, the servicer then continues to collect without either the trust or the servicer ever informing the borrower that the mortgage was already satisfied- as occurred here. Collection could be in the form of having the borrower continue to pay, or, if there is equity and value in the property, simply foreclose and sell the property for quick cash. The pooling and servicing agreement requires the servicer to pay the trust ONLY the principal and interest collected, and

any other charges imposed or collected on the account belong to the servicer. Once again, it happened precisely as planned. The investors were paid in full by the assurance company. However, what did not transpire, as equity would dictate, is the prompt recording of a satisfaction of mortgage. Instead, the servicer stepped in to make great profit from their misdeeds. The entire scheme therefore depends on the borrower defaulting, and so in order to insure that the servicer imposed on the plaintiff, and others in her situation, false charges, charging for services which were never rendered, overcharging for services which were rendered, and charging fees and costs for amounts that were neither due nor owing. This was all done for the purpose of putting the borrower (Appellant Ames) into default so the borrower would have to either request a loan modification or sell or lose the home in foreclosure. If there is a modification, the servicer adds the amount of their fraudulent charges to the loan modification making sure they recover the full amount of the fake charges. If the property is sold, the trust, having already been paid in full, ends up with nothing more and the servicer keeps the balance of the proceeds from the sale. If the property is foreclosed, the servicer ends up with the property and it is sold on the retail market and the servicer again keeps all the money, the trust already having been paid in full. If a third-party buyer buys the property, the servicer keeps all the proceeds from the sale, the trust already having been paid in full. Under any of the scenarios, the servicer keeps all the proceeds.

In Ames case, Wells charged for multiple inspections, evidencing they knew the property was valuable and would sell. The investors were paid in full. The Servicer, on the other hand, took the proceeds from the sale of the home after a fraudulent and defective foreclosure process.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. INTRODUCTION

Ames was instructed to stop making payments by Wells. Since the entry of the summary judgment, whereas the court originally did not believe Wells was liable for any wrongdoing and denied the motion for leave to amend, much has happened to open the eyes of this court. Most recently, as mentioned above, Ambac Assurance and CFIG Assurance came out of the shadows and admitted to satisfying the mortgages. Additionally, multiple class action suits were filed and the courts now are deluged with cases where that Wells wrongfully instructed people to go into default for the nefarious purpose of depriving them of their home and equity. Now, the motive for Wells to do this has come to light. *IN RE WELLS FARGO MORTGAGE-BACKED CERTIFICATES LITIGATION*, Civil Action No. 09-cv-01376-SI.

Ames was one of those victims. Her home was often inspected, her bank account monitored, and after multiple times being told to resubmit loan

modification requests and the same documents over and over, when her bank balance dropped to a point she could not pay the full amount of the arrears they induced her to build, they denied her modification request and defaulted her. They put the property up for auction, cancelled the auction and instead, transferred title in California. There is no admissible evidence on the record that a sale ever occurred on the courthouse steps, and the paperwork shows the title was transferred in California. There were other defects in the sales process which were caused by Wells. For example, the public records prove that the Trustee was not lawfully appointed by Wells Fargo, because Wells Fargo had already assigned away their right title and interest at the time they claim they improperly appointed the Trustee. Defendant Appellee admitted that Leisa Jefferson was not authorized to execute the documents in favor of Wells because she was an employee of Wells and falsely held herself out to be the authorized signature of the assignor, but it was a defunct entity at the time and not licensed to do business in the state. At the time designated for the auction, Ames was told the sale was cancelled, and the sale did not transpire on the Courthouse steps. The Trustee was not even licensed to do business in the State at the time of the purported sale to the Defendant. In violation of RCW 23.95.505. the already satisfied Defendant Trust was not licensed to do business in this State and the trust was closed at the time it claims to have acquired the interest in the Plaintiff's home. The identity of the Lender has and was at all relevant times

concealed from the Plaintiff until the foreclosure. According to the SEC Edgar filings, the trust closed January 26, 2007, and could not be even related to this mortgage, let alone claim to be a holder and owner of the subject note and mortgage. Nothing that transpired against the Plaintiff was legal, and Defendant, knowing that, failed and refused to respond to the propounded discovery, all with the hopes of preventing the Court from seeing the depth of their deception. Plaintiff had to bring Six Motions to Compel because the discovery sought directly relates to the issues listed herein, and the Plaintiff had not received any responses. In fact, the Plaintiff obtained an order granting her request requiring them to respond by February 28th, 2017 and Plaintiff was still waiting by the time the motion for Summary Judgment was filed.

II. RIGHT TO APPEAL

This case is back here because Ames filed a motion to set aside and/or vacate the original order after exhausting her original appeal to the US Supreme Court. All the cases against Wells became public after the court entered the summary judgment, and after the appeal was exhausted, Ames filed a motion to set aside the judgment so she could amend and go after Wells in addition to the already satisfied Trust. The lower court denied the relief. The order denying a motion for reconsideration and the Court of Appeals order sustaining the denial of the motion to set aside and vacate the judgment dismissing the case is an appealable order under

RAP 2.2(a)(9) and (10) inasmuch as it represents an appeal of the Order on Motion for New Trial or Amendment of Judgment. An order granting or denying a motion for new trial or amendment of judgment. (10) Order on Motion for Vacation of Judgment. An order granting or denying a motion to vacate a judgment.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW STANDARD ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT

A defendant who moves for summary judgment bears the initial burden of showing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). Once that burden is met, the burden shifts to the party with the burden of proof at trial to "make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case." Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225 (quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986)). In demonstrating the existence of material facts, the nonmoving party may not rely on "mere allegations . . ., but a response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If the adverse party does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against the adverse party." CR 56(e). We draw all reasonable inferences from the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp., 151 Wn.2d 853, 860, 93 P.3d 108 (2004).

Leave to amend a complaint is to be freely given when justice requires. CR 15(a). Doyle v. Planned Parenthood, 639 P. 2d 240 - Wash: Court of Appeals, 1st Div. 1982 Rule 15(a) specifically provides that leave to amend "shall be freely given when justice so requires." CR 15(a). These rules serve to facilitate proper decisions on the merits, to provide parties with adequate notice of the basis for claims and defenses asserted against them, and to allow amendment of the pleadings except where amendment would result in prejudice to the opposing party. Caruso v. Local Union No. 690, 100 Wash.2d 343, 349, 670 P.2d 240 (1983); Herron, 108 Wash.2d at 165, 736 P.2d 249. The decision to grant leave to amend the pleadings is within the discretion of the trial court. Sprague v. Sumitomo Forestry Co., 104 Wash.2d 751, 763, 709 P.2d 1200 (1985); Lincoln v. Transamerica Inv. Corp., 89 Wash.2d 571, 577, 573 P.2d 1316 (1978). Therefore, when reviewing the court's decision to grant or deny leave to amend, we apply a manifest abuse of discretion test. Caruso, 100 Wash.2d at 351, 670 P.2d 240. The trial court's decision "will not be disturbed on review except on a clear showing of abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wash.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). The touchstone for the denial of a motion to amend is the prejudice such an amendment would cause to the nonmoving party. Caruso, 100 Wash, 2d at 350, 670 P.2d 240. Factors which may be considered in determining whether permitting

amendment would cause prejudice include undue delay, unfair surprise, and jury confusion. *Herron*, 108 Wash.2d at 165-66, 736 P.2d 249. *Wilson v. Horsley*, 974 P. 2d 316 - Wash: Supreme Court 1999.

First, THERE IS NO TRUST and therefore the only party was Wells Fargo who hired a lawyer to pretend to be representing a non-existent trust. The Lender was paid in full. The servicer double collected and concealed the recovery of the money from the Assurance company.

Since the summary judgment was rendered, and while on appeal, multiple class actions occurred against Wells proving the issues claimed by Ames were true. Wells was sued for inducing defaults, making loan default a pre-requisite for modification, without regard to whether a borrower otherwise qualified for a modification due to financial hardship, caused borrowers to unnecessarily suffer ruined credit and subjected them to significant fees, penalties and interest. As a loan servicer, Wells generated a significant portion of its revenue from fees, penalties and interest collected on the non-performing loans it services. See www.hfesq.com. This exact misconduct transpired against Ames. Similarly, on October 18, 2019, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Washington decided that plaintiffs who lost their homes after Wells Fargo rejected their modification applications due to an error in the servicer's software had properly alleged a claim under the Washington Consumer Protection Act, on Friday, August 3, 2018, Wells Fargo

admitted that it failed to give modifications to about 870 borrowers. Its customers were wrongfully denied modifications resulting in Wells Fargo paying out more than 69 million dollars under Washington Consumer Protection Act. Wells Fargo also improperly denied modifications where an internal review at Wells revealed that an underwriting tool the company used to process loan modifications consistently made a calculation error that affected specific accounts between April 13, 2010, and April 2018.

All of these cases have one underlying theme in common, unknown to all those borrowers who were victimized by Wells. That is, Wells was acting for their own personal gain, and not for the non-existent trusts. The scheme has to be that the borrower is put into default, so Wells can have all the money from the foreclosure. Even if Wells has to pay a small percentage back from all those millions of fraudulent foreclosures, it is still a profitable criminal enterprise.

There are many more instances, but the court now understands the simple fact that Ames was victimized and out of the millions of homeowners victimized by Wells, Ames's right to recover has been deprived by this Court. This is a matter of great public importance and great public interest, because a ruling from this court permitting Ames to proceed against Wells for concealment of this scheme will once again rock the mortgage servicing world. This court must take this matter very seriously.

IV. THERE ARE TWO PROCEDURAL ERRORS MADE BY THE LOWER COURT WHICH DEPRIVED THE APPELLANT OF HER RIGHT OF RECOVERY.

First, the court incorrectly found that the statute of limitations expired preventing Plaintiff from recovery against Wells. This court granted a summary judgment in favor of the Defendant on the grounds that the complaint was barred by the Statute of Limitations. However, a review of the public records shows that HSBC BANK USA terminated their status in this state and became inactive in 08/10/2004. https://ccfs.sos.wa.gov/#/BusinessSearch/BusinessInformation. When HSBC was registered here, they registered as a Foreign Entity whose jurisdiction was New York. Wells Fargo Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR16 is not a registered trust in this state at all. See https://ccfs.sos.wa.gov/#/BusinessSearch - No Value Found.) As a result of their absence, Defendants / Appellees claims of statute of limitations are improper as the statute was tolled. Similarly, Wells was not registered in this State and thus the

Second, the court found that the time for bringing the motion to vacate the judgment lapsed after a year. However, the appeal to the Supreme Court of the United States tolled the time, and the original motion was brought in a timely fashion, and the court rejected even hearing the matter until the appeal was complete. The motion was filed within 30 days of the denial of the US Supreme

Court review. The relief is sought under Civil Rule 60(b)(3) and there was no way of knowing the depth of Wells Fargo's deceit until the claims against it were published, and they were not published until the appeal was already pending. Some cases are brought as late as 2021 against Wells and they continue to grow. Appellant should be entitled to proceed.

Neither of these grounds sufficed to deprive the Appellant of her rights to recover.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Ames has shown her determination to obtain justice. She took her first appeal to the US Supreme Court and was prevented from recovering because the original Wells Fargo participation was not before the court. Now, the entire matter is before this Court. Here's how Appellant was cheated and Wells Fargo, as the servicer is double recovering:

That there is a scheme and artifice to defraud.

First, the scheme involves purchasing a mortgage, but not the note, which transpired here.

Second, the securitization of that mortgage into a closed trust- again, it transpired here.

Third, the guaranteeing of that mortgage payment through PMI or issuance of RMBS bonds from Ambac Assurance or other third party insurance companies that

guarantee the payment of these mortgages to the investors in the trust.- again, what happened here.

Fourth, the default of the borrower- again, it happened at the cause of the defendant's servicer. (Or in this case, Wells instructed the Appellant to stop making payments with the false promise of a loan modification. Instead, Plaintiff / Appellant now knows that her allegations that the mortgage was already satisfied are true, and proven. In this case, Wells as servicer was taking regular timely payments of the loan modification given to Ames. That was for FIFTEEN months, so the loan modification was permanent. Wells claimed that this was just a "TRIAL" and that to activate the loan modification again, was that Ames HAD TO MISS HER PAYMENT. Wells, in order to recover from the assurance company, needed Ames to default. Therefore, they falsely promised her a loan modification if she stopped paying. They made sure that the property had plenty of equity, and was beautifully re-done by Ames, as evidenced by the inspection fees they charged her. They knew they had a hot prospect in taking this home.)

Fifth, the claim by the trust against the insurance, as they did here.

Sixth, the servicer then continues to collect without either the trust or the servicer ever informing the borrower that the mortgage was already satisfied- as occurred here. Collection could be in the form of having the borrower continue to pay, or, if

there is equity and value in the property, simply foreclose and sell the property for quick cash.

The pooling and servicing agreement requires the servicer to pay the trust ONLY the principal and interest collected, and any other charges imposed or collected on the account belong to the servicer. Once again, it happened precisely as planned. The investors were paid in full by the assurance company. However, what did not transpire, as equity would dictate, is the prompt recording of a satisfaction of mortgage. Instead, the servicer stepped in to make great profit from their misdeeds. The entire scheme therefore depends on the borrower defaulting, and so in order to insure that the servicer imposed on the plaintiff, and others in her situation, false charges, charging for services which were never rendered, overcharging for services which were rendered, and charging fees and costs for amounts that were neither due nor owing,

This was all done for the purpose of putting the borrower (Appellant Ames) into default so the borrower would have to either request a loan modification or sell or lose the home in foreclosure.

If there is a modification, the servicer adds the amount of their fraudulent charges to the loan modification making sure they recover the full amount of the fake charges. If the property is sold, the trust, having already been paid in full, ends up with nothing more and the servicer keeps the balance of the proceeds from the

sale. If the property is foreclosed, the servicer ends up with the property and it is sold on the retail market and the servicer again keeps all the money, the trust already having been paid in full.

If a third-party buyer buys the property, the servicer keeps all the proceeds from the sale, the trust already having been paid in full.

Under any of the scenarios, the servicer keeps all the proceeds.

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