FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/4/2022 11:42 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

№. 101012-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 38547-7-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

(TRANSFERRED FROM DIVISION II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON

LINDA AMES,

Appellant,

VS.

HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION as Trustee for Wells Fargo Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR16,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Justin T. Jastrzebski, WSBA #46680 Robert A. Bailey, WSBA #28472 Justin L. Jaena, WSBA #51495 LAGERLOF, LLP 701 Pike Street, Suite 1560 Seattle, Washington 98101-3915 (206) 492-2300

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

V. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW

SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Standard of Review

To obtain this Court's review, Ames must show: (1) that the

Court of Appeals' Decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) that the Court of Appeals' Decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

Ames's Petition for Review neither mentions nor addresses any of the four grounds implicated by Division III's April 5, 2022, decision. None of the cases cited by Ames addresses the four grounds for Washington State Supreme Court review above. Ames's Petition is simply a regurgitation of arguments previously made in the trial court and then again in her appellate briefing.

Because Division III's decision does not conflict with any issued Supreme Court or appellate court decisions, does not involve either a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest, the Petition for Review

should be denied.

B. The Decision Below Is Not In Conflict With Any Decision Of This Court

Of the twelve cases cited⁵ in the Petition for Review, eight are Washington State Supreme Court decisions.

Ames fails to offer any argument as to how Opinion 2 conflicts with any of the Washington Supreme Court cases cited in her Petition. In fact, the Court of Appeals applied the correct standards set forth by this Court to affirm the denial of Ames's March 8, 2021, motion.

To decide whether a motion to vacate a judgment under CR 60(b)(3) should be granted, the courts consider whether newly discovered evidence:

(1) would probably change the result if a new trial were granted, (2) was discovered since trial, (3) could not have been discovered before the trial by the exercise of due diligence, (4) is material, and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

⁵ Ames's Table of Authorities lists 20 cases and 1 Law Review Article cited in her Petition. This is not an accurate list of all cases cited; however, Respondent addresses all Washington State Court cases cited.

Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec Inc., 197 Wash. 2d 790, 821, 490 P.3d 200 (2021).

These are exactly the factors applied by Division III in reviewing Ames's newly discovered evidence. Opinion 2 at 3. When deciding upon Ames's March 8, 2021, motion, Division III properly applied the abuse of discretion standard, consistent with this Court's prior holdings. *Id.*(citing *In re Marriage of Tang*, 57 Wn. App. 648, 653, 789 P.2d 118 (1990)); *In re Adamec*, 100 Wash.2d 166, 173, 667 P.2d 1085 (1983).

Ames's Petition cites cases regarding the summary judgment standard. Whether summary judgment should be affirmed is not at issue before the Court. Only the trial court's denial of Ames's March 8, 2021, Motion for Order to Show Cause (Vacate Judgment/Order) is at issue.

As stated in HSBC's brief to Division III, appeal of a denial of a motion to vacate judgment cannot be the basis for an appeal of the underlying judgment. *Matter of Marriage of*

Orate, 11 Wash. App. 2d 807, 814, 455 P.3d 1158 (2020). Additionally, when the final judgment of the trial court is not designated in the Notice of Appeal, the court will not review the final judgment unless:

[T]he notice designates an order deciding a timely motion based on (1) CR 50(a) (judgment as a matter of law), (2) CR 52(b) (amendment of findings), (3) CR 59 (reconsideration, new trial, and amendment of judgments), ...

RAP 2.4(c).

Furthermore, Ames has already appealed the February 5, 2018, summary judgment in favor of HSBC and that summary judgment was affirmed. See Opinion 1. That ruling is final and Ames cannot challenge the underlying judgment again here. Based on the foregoing, the Court need not review the summary judgment. The Court need not review Ames's arguments that the statute of limitations was improperly applied on summary judgment. See Petition at 16. The only matter at issue before the Court is Ames's CR 60(b) motion of March 8, 2021, and the subsequent denial of March 30, 2021. No Washington Supreme

Court decision conflicts with Division III's affirmation of the denial and Ames has failed to demonstrate otherwise.

C. The Decision Below Is Not In Conflict With Any Published Decision Of The Court Of Appeals

Ames cites to a single decision from the Court of Appeals which does not conflict with Division III's decision rendered in this case. Ames's Petition cites to *Doyle v. Planned Parenthood of Seattle-King County, Inc.*, 31 Wash. App. 126, 639 P.2d 240 (1982). However, Ames fails to offer any argument as to how Division III's decision in Opinion 2 conflicts with *Doyle*.

Ames's CR 60(b) motion of March 8, 2021, sought, in addition to vacating the summary judgment, leave to amend Ames's complaint to add Wells Fargo as a party based on her newly discovered evidence. Opinion 2 at 4. Ames cites to *Doyle* stating:

Leave to amend a complaint is to be freely given when justice requires.

Petition at 13(citing *Doyle*, 31 Wash. App. at 130).

However, Ames provides no argument other than a

regurgitation of her appellate brief to support the notion that "justice so required" she be granted leave to amend. Division III explained, at length, that Ames failed to present facts demonstrating evidence to succeed on appeal. Opinion 2 at 7. Like Ames's appellate brief, her Petition merely provides conclusory allegations. There are no citations to the record. Ames offers no argument as to how the various class action lawsuits against Wells Fargo are related to the instant action and could change the result of the trial court's summary judgment. In fact, Ames offers no argument that her newly discovered evidence satisfies the factors found in *Coogan*.

Division III stated:

Her motion to vacate needed to be supported by *evidence* of *facts* learned from the DOJ/Wells Fargo settlement and class action that had a direct bearing on the foreclosure of her property and that would demonstrate directly some fact specific to her foreclosure and her lawsuit was disputed.

Id.

Ames further fails to offer any argument that her newly

discovered evidence could not have been discovered by due diligence earlier pursuant to CR 60(b)(3). Additionally, Ames fails to offer any argument that her CR 60(b) motion was timely. CR 60(b) requires that a motion under that rule be made within 1 year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. See also *In re Marriage of Thurston*, 92 Wash. App. 494, 499-500, 963 P.2d 947 (1998). Summary judgment in favor of HSBC was entered on February 5, 2018. Ames's CR 60(b) motion in this matter was brought by her on March 8, 2021, well over the 1-year period allowed by the rule.

Ames claims that the time to bring her March 8, 2021, began tolling upon the denial of her Petition for Review to the United States Supreme Court on November of 2020. Petition at 16-17. This assertion is egregiously inconsistent with CR 60(b) which states "not more than 1 year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken." Ames's CR 60(b) motion sought to vacate the summary judgment entered on February 5, 2018. Accordingly, the tolling period to vacate summary

judgment began on February 5, 2018. It belies all sense to consider the 1-year tolling period as having begun on the date the Supreme Court of the United States issued its denial as if Ames was seeking to vacate that decision.

Based on the foregoing, Division III's decision is aligned with that of *Doyle*. Ames failed to demonstrate that "justice so requires" leave to amend her complaint and the Court need not review.

D. The Decision Below Does Not Create A Significant Question Of Law Under Either The Constitution of Washington State Or The United States Constitution

Ames's Petition is devoid of any significant questions of law under either the Washington State Constitution or the United States Constitution. Furthermore, she never raised a constitutionality claim in either the trial court or Division III, and accordingly those claims are barred under RAP 2.5(a). That rule's exception for manifest error affecting a constitutional right does not assist Ames:

Because RAP 2.5(a)(3) is an exception to the general rule that parties cannot raise new arguments on appeal, we construe the exception narrowly by requiring the asserted error to be (1) manifest and (2) "'truly of constitutional magnitude'." ... The policy behind RAP 2.5(a)(3) is simply this: Appellate courts will not waste their judicial resources to render definitive rulings on newly raised constitutional claims when those claims have no chance of succeeding on the merits.

State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wash.2d 595, 602-03, 980 P.2d 1257, 1261 (1999) (citations omitted). Given the established law that summary judgment does not infringe on a litigant's jury trial right, any claimed error Ames may argue is neither manifest nor of true constitutional magnitude; accordingly, it is barred by RAP 2.5(a).

E. The Petition Does Not Involve An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By This Court.

Ames offers no argument as to how Division III's decision implicates an issue of substantial public interest. Rather, Ames merely points to tax documents filed in other jurisdictions and other litigations without demonstrating how they are related.

In determining whether a matter, though moot, is of

continuing and substantial public interest and thus reviewable, this Court considers: (1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur. *In re Cross*, 99 Wn.2d 373, 377, 662 P.2d 828 (1983) (citing, *Sorenson v. Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d at 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972)). "Arguably a fourth factor exists, that being the level of genuine adverseness and the quality of advocacy of the issues." *Hart v. Dep't. of Soc. & Health Servs.*, Ill Wn.2d 445, 447, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988) (citations omitted).

As explained by the *Hart* court:

The continuing and substantial public interest exception has been used in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, ...; the validity and interpretation of statutes and regulations, and matters deemed sufficiently important by the appellate court,

Most of the public interest exception cases fall into the first two categories as they tend to present issues which are more public in nature and are more likely to arise again. Further, decisions involving the constitution and statutes generally help to guide public officials. The public interest exception has not been used in statutory or regulatory cases that are limited on their facts, ..., or involve statutes or regulations that have been amended.

The third category includes cases taken by the appellate courts within their discretion because of the importance of the issues involved [such as] ...case involving definition of death; ... public campaign financing and election limit ordinance in Seattle; ... Seattle's building and zoning ordinances; ... negligence of a third party supplying liquor to a minor; ... large development project and Environmental Impact Statement requirements; [and] ... referendum to repeal city ordinance.

Id., at 449-50 (citations omitted).

The issues noted for review satisfy none of the three substantial public interest standards. First, foreclosure of a secured property interest due to loan default is a private matter limited to the contracting parties. Division III's decision did not add to or expand on the developing body of foreclosure law.

Second, there is no issue requiring an authoritative determination to provide future guidance to public officers.

Non-judicial foreclosures have been prosecuted for at least a

century in Washington State, and no statutory interpretations pertaining to the construction of the non-judicial foreclosure statutes were argued or contested in the trial or appellate courts.

Finally, although non-judicial foreclosures and summary judgments are likely to recur, a Supreme Court decision in this case is unlikely to affect any such future proceedings. The underlying rulings were limited to the specific facts of this case, and they do not expand the law of either non-judicial foreclosures or summary judgments.

Because no issue of substantial public interest has been identified or exists, the Petition for Review is unsupported.

VI. CONCLUSION

Division III's decision does not 1) conflict with any decision by the Washington Supreme Court, 2) conflict with any decision by the Court of Appeals, 3) create a significant question of law under the Constitution of Washington State or the United States Constitution, or 4) involve an issue of substantial public interest. Ames has failed to offer any argument to support the foregoing. Rather, Ames merely

regurgitates arguments from her appellate brief which Division

III found deficient.

Ames's newly discovered evidence fails to satisfy the factors

set forth in Coogan and Ames fails to address how the 1-year

limit to bring motions to vacate judgment based on newly

discovered evidence was incorrectly applied. As a result, this

matter severely falls short of the standards of review set forth in

RAP 13.4(b).

Accordingly, Respondent HSBC respectfully requests the

Petition for Review be denied.

I certify, in compliance with RAP 18.17, that the foregoing

document contains 3,872 words.